STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Mar 14 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Florence County
The Honorable Roger E. Henderson, Circuit Court Judge
On Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Court of Appeals Appellate Case No. 2021-000734
Supreme Court Appellate Case No. 2024-001781

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND TREATMENT OF ANDY EUGENE
HYMAN,

RESPONDENT.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549 Columbia,
SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the court of appeals err in reversing Judge Henderson's admission of the PPG evidence because it applied an incorrect standard of review and ignored the substantial evidence before Judge Henderson that established the PPG is a recognized reliable scientific measure of deviant sexual interest in the field of sex offender evaluation and treatment, and its harmless error analysis was fundamentally flawed?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent Andy Eugene Hyman was found to be a sexually violent predator at a jury trial before the Honorable Roger E. Henderson, Circuit Court Judge, in June 2021 and civilly committed to the Sexually Violent Predator Treatment Program for long term control, care and treatment. The court of appeals reversed his commitment, finding that Judge Henderson erred by allowing the State's expert to testify regarding a penile plethysmograph (PPG) performed by her lab. The State petitioned for a rehearing, which the court of appeals denied. The State petitioned for a writ of certiorari to the court of appeals, which this Court granted by Order filed February 12, 2025.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 2016, Respondent Andy Eugene Hyman pled guilty in Florence County to one count of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the third degree and was sentenced to ten years' incarceration. Prior to Respondent's release from incarceration, Petitioner State of South Carolina commenced proceedings pursuant to the Sexually Violent Predator Act (SVPA) seeking Respondent's commitment to the South Carolina Department of Mental Health (DMH) for long term control, care, and treatment as a sexually violent predator. The matter was called for a jury trial on June 7, 2021, before the Honorable Roger E. Henderson, Circuit Court Judge.

Prior to trial, Respondent moved to exclude any testimony by the State's expert regarding a PPG performed during a comprehensive psychosexual evaluation of Respondent's mental status and risk to reoffend sexually. Before swearing the jury, Judge Henderson conducted a full evidentiary hearing pursuant to State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999), during which the DMH evaluator who performed Respondent's initial evaluation testified for Respondent, and Emily Gottfried, Ph.D., of the Medical University of South Carolina (MUSC), testified for the State.

Pre-Trial Hearing

DMH Evaluator

The DMH evaluator testified she is a clinical forensic psychologist with DMH, she conducts precommitment evaluations under the SVPA, and she has never utilized the PPG because she believes it is not standardized which makes it unreliable. She stated everyone conducting PPGs uses different stimulus sets, and there is no research on the stimulus sets utilized in MUSC's PPGs, particularly the Real Child Voices (RCV) stimulus set. She also testified about a "best

practices” book regarding evaluation of sexually violent predators, which recommended not using the PPG as part of such evaluations. (Appendix, pp. 11-25).

On cross-examination, the DMH evaluator acknowledged the “best practices” book she referenced was published in 2009, and stated she was unaware of any updates since the original publication. She testified she remembered looking at articles from 2019 and 2020, and the 2019 article was about a collaboration of professionals regarding PPG standardization issues. She testified she is not trained to administer a PPG, she has no expertise in using the PPG, she has never published any articles about the reliability of the PPG, and she has never seen a PPG performed. In addition, she was unaware of a 2019 meta-data study out of Washington State which found the PPG had a 92% reliability factor in reproducing results indicating a pedophilic disorder. (Appendix, pp. 25-32).

Dr. Emily Gottfried

Dr. Gottfried is an Assistant Professor of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences at MUSC, and the Director of MUSC’s Sexual Behaviors Clinic and Lab (SBCL). In her capacity as Director, she oversees all SBCL administrative duties, performs most of the evaluations, as well as overseeing and providing treatment. She is a clinical member of the Association for Treatment of Sexual Abusers (ATSA), and sits on the Executive Committee of the American Psychology and Law Society, and the Executive Board for the Clinical Psychology Section of the American Psychological Association. She has twenty-six peer-reviewed published articles, including an article comparing the PPG’s use in Canada, the United Kingdom and the United States. She has written book chapters about best practices in sexual behavior evaluations that included information about the PPG, and has given research presentations regarding the PPG at national and international conferences. (Appendix, pp. 34-37).

Dr. Gottfried orders a PPG for all adult men being evaluated at the SBCL. Limestone Technologies, which developed and manufactures the PPG machine and software used in the SBCL, trained Dr. Gottfried and the SBCL personnel, and Dr. Gottfried is certified to administer and interpret the PPG. The SBCL is certified by Limestone as a clinical and research laboratory, which is the highest level of certification. (Appendix, pp. 39-40).

Dr. Gottfried testified that research literature indicates sexual arousal to non-consensual abusive scenarios is a strong predictor of sexual recidivism, and the PPG provides a physiological measure of male sexual arousal. The PPG has been peer-reviewed in both the sex offender and general sexual behavior literature.

The SBCL has a standard protocol used in every PPG performed there. The PPG room is climate controlled, including the humidity and temperature, and the gauge used in the PPG must be calibrated using a five step process before the PPG can start. The equipment and software includes countermeasures in the event the person does something that might interfere with the test results, *i.e.*, moving around, changes in breathing pattern, etc. The SBCL also uses a very conservative cut score for significant arousal to minimize the possibility of false positive results. (Appendix pp. 42-47).

The ATSA practice guidelines support responsible use of the PPG as a data point in sexual behavior evaluations and treatment. Dr. Gottfried stated that “responsible use means you are following the protocol,” “interpreting the results in a standardized manner,” and “not using [the PPG results] as the sole data point to look at risk, release recommendations, diagnosis.” (Appendix, pp. 48-49).

Dr. Gottfried testified the recommendation not to use the PPG in the 2009 book the DMH evaluator referenced was premised on a 2006 article from Bill Marshall, who subsequently

published another article in 2014 “that was much more supportive of the PPG.” She stated research since 2009, including the 2019 meta-analysis of data from thirty to fifty studies with PPG results of over 10,000 men, addressed many issues identified in earlier PPG research. In addition, the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual, 5th Ed., (DSM-5) recognizes use of the PPG. (Appendix, pp. 49-50).

Dr. Gottfried further testified men who sexually offend against children may do so for multiple reasons that are not due to sexual arousal to prepubescent children, and the PPG is most reliable in differentiating between men who have sexual arousal to children and those who do not. The 2019 meta-analysis study considered multiple groups of men, including men who had sexually offended against children, men who had not sexually offended against children, men who had never been arrested before, and men who had reoffended by committing a new sexual offense. The results indicated that when compared to other groups, the men who had offended against children showed “really robust differences [and] much greater arousal to the child scenarios than the other groups.” (Appendix, pp. 50-53).

The SBCL uses the Real Child Voices (RCV) stimulus set, which comes with every PPG system from Limestone and is used in between fifty and one hundred labs, as well as the Minnesota, California, New York, Illinois, and Missouri sexually violent predator programs. The SBCL also uses the Marshall stimulus set, which has been used and researched for many years. Dr. Gottfried stated the SBCL uses both sets because “[w]e want to do a multi-method assessment where we’re measuring the same thing in multiple different ways.” (Appendix, pp. 54-55).

Dr. Gottfried testified research regarding the PPG has been increasing, and a 2019 “best practices” book regarding sexually violent predator evaluations includes a chapter discussing the utility of using the PPG in sexually violent predator evaluations. She emphasized she uses the

PPG results as one data point, and she does not base any diagnosis or opinion solely on it. (Appendix, pp. 57-58).

On cross-examination, Dr. Gottfried testified she was working on a couple of studies regarding the RCV stimulus set, but none of the studies had been published in peer-reviewed journals yet. She also testified she was participating with international partners in studies comparing the RCV, Marshall and other stimulus sets, and abstracts of those studies had been peer-reviewed by scientific committees and accepted for presentation at national and international professional conferences, including the American Academy of Forensic Sciences, the International Association for Sex Research, the American Psychology and Law Society, and ATSA. (Appendix, pp. 59-61).

Dr. Gottfried again testified that everyone in the SBCL is certified by Limestone to administer the PPG, which included having Limestone conduct on-site inspections of the PPG lab and procedures. She stated she did not know if other certifications were available, or what companies other than Limestone do. (Appendix, p. 62).

In order to minimize the possibility of false positive PPG results, Dr. Gottfried reiterated that the SBCL uses a cut score of 5mm change in tumescence to establish a clinically significant arousal. The SBCL's cut score is double the research literature's recommended cut score of 2.5mm. They also look for consistency between the person's offense history and self-report, as well as response consistency across multiple trials in the stimulus sets. (Appendix, pp. 65-67).

Pre-Trial Ruling

At the conclusion of testimony, Respondent acknowledged there are studies regarding the PPG, but his "concern" was the RCV stimulus set used in the Limestone system, which was not part of a "peer-reviewed study showing its validity," and the Limestone certification was "not

necessarily the same as being certified by some kind of independent agency.” The State responded that Dr. Gottfried testified there was considerable literature finding the RCV and Marshall stimulus sets are reliable, and the PPG results was only one data point she considered in her evaluation. The State further argued the PPG evidence was relevant to show Respondent’s current arousal pattern. Judge Henderson found that given the circumstances of the case, the probative value of the PPG evidence outweighed the prejudice, and the evidence was admissible. (Appendix, pp. 67-72).

Dr. Gottfried’s Trial Testimony

Before the jury, Dr. Gottfried testified MUSC was retained to perform a precommitment evaluation of Respondent pursuant to the SVPA. As part of her evaluation protocol, she reviews criminal history records, incident/police reports relating to the person’s offenses, prison records, medical records, and mental health records. Respondent was transported to MUSC on several occasions for psychological and physiological assessments and a clinical interview that included reviewing the assessments’ results with him. (Appendix, pp. 97-110).

Dr. Gottfried testified Respondent pled guilty in 1997 to one count of criminal sexual conduct second degree and one count of lewd act on a minor. (Appendix, pp. 392-394). The charges involved three female victims, two were six years old and one was eight years old. During the interview, Respondent told Dr. Gottfried he fondled two of the girls, got them to grab his penis, and he may have rubbed his penis in their genital area and played with their butt. The third victim was Respondent’s neighbor, and he said he talked her into taking her clothes off because he wanted to see her. Respondent said he talked the victims into engaging in the behaviors with him, and told them not to tell anybody because he would get in trouble. (Appendix, pp. 118-119).

While incarcerated on that conviction, Respondent attended the Department of Corrections sex offender treatment program for approximately five or six months until he was transferred to a different prison. After he was released, Respondent was ordered to attend treatment but he told Dr. Gottfried he was kicked out of a treatment program because he had to go to work and could not get in touch with the provider. He said he did complete a six month program, but when asked what he learned in that program, Respondent “said that he didn’t really learn anything and couldn’t really remember what had been covered.” (Appendix, pp. 119-120).

Respondent told Dr. Gottfried that he got married and had children between the time Respondent was released from prison until 2016. He reported “seeking out semi-nude or sexualized (six) images of young children” between the ages of eight and fourteen in bras and panties during that time. (Appendix, p. 119).

In 2016, Respondent pled guilty to one count of criminal sexual conduct with a minor third degree - commit/attempt lewd act on minor under sixteen years of age. (Appendix, pp. 395). The charges involved three female victims, who were five, seven, and eight years old. Respondent told Dr. Gottfried he did not offend against the five- and seven-year-old victims, but he did offend against his eight-year-old niece by fondling her, feeling her chest, her genitals and her butt, and rubbing his penis on her, and he did this four or five times. Respondent then admitted he performed oral sex on his niece and got her to put her mouth on his penis. In addition to the 1997 and 2016 convicted offenses, Respondent told Dr. Gottfried he exposed himself to a female cousin when he was fifteen or sixteen years old, and sexually touched both of his sisters when he was eighteen or nineteen years old, and they were approximately eleven and fifteen years old. (Appendix, pp. 110-121).

Dr. Gottfried testified an offender's offending history is relevant to assessing future risk because prior behavior is the best predictor of future behavior, and the offending history may show patterns of behavior. She stated that Respondent's criminal history and admissions to her demonstrated Respondent had a pattern of inappropriate sexual behaviors with prepubescent female children beginning when he was fifteen to sixteen years old, which included multiple offenses against prepubescent children under ten years old, fantasizing about prepubescent children and looking at sexualized images of children. Based on all the information she gathered during the evaluation, Dr. Gottfried diagnosed Respondent with pedophilic disorder, which is an intense and persistent sexual arousal to prepubescent children. (Appendix, pp. 122-126).

Dr. Gottfried then testified about the standard battery of assessments the SBCL uses in evaluating all adult men, including Respondent, as part of the psychosexual evaluation, including the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory Version 3 (MMPI), the Personality Assessment Inventory (PAI), and the Multidimensional Inventory of Development Sex and Aggression. (MIDSA). The results from these assessments indicated Respondent tried to present himself in an overly positive light, he did not want to admit some minor faults that most people will admit, he was reluctant to admit having undesirable negative reactions, and he had some feelings of sexual inadequacy with adults. (Appendix, pp. 126-131).

Dr. Gottfried also used the Sexual Violence Risk-20, which is a tool to help scientifically structure professional judgment when looking for known risk factors relevant to the person being evaluated. She noted Respondent had a history of problems with sexual deviance, consistent sexual arousal to prepubescent children, sexual preoccupation during his offending, a reported history of being the victim of child abuse, offending against his victims multiple times across many

years, some psychological coercion in sexual offending, and a possible negative attitude about supervision. (Appendix, pp. 131-133).

As part of her evaluation of Respondent's risk to reoffend sexually, Dr. Gottfried used two actuarial risk assessment tools, the Static-99R and the Static-2002R. Respondent's score on the Static-99R was two, and his score on the Static-2002R was four, which were in the average category for reoffending when compared to other offenders. She testified these risk assessments only include offenders who have offended and then committed new detected offenses, and only approximately thirty percent of sex offenses are reported, so the Static scores potentially underestimate the actual risk of recidivism. (Appendix, pp. 133-136).

Dr. Gottfried testified about the PPG in general, explaining what it measures and how it is administered, and describing the stimulus sets used during the PPG.¹ She then testified Respondent showed clinically significant arousal on both stimulus sets to trials featuring sexual violence against a prepubescent female child, coercion against a prepubescent female child, sexual violence against a pubescent or adolescent child, persuasion against a prepubescent female child, sexual activity with a male infant, and consensual sexual activity with an adult woman. Respondent's maximum arousal on the first stimulus set was to a trial featuring sexual violence against a prepubescent female child, and his maximum arousal on the second stimulus set was to a trial featuring coercion against a female prepubescent child. Dr. Gottfried stated the PPG arousal pattern was consistent with Respondent's history of sexually offending against prepubescent female children. (Appendix, pp. 137-142).

¹ The Marshall and RCV are stimulus "sets" and the individual scenarios within the sets are "trials."

Dr. Gottfried testified there are dynamic risk factors that are not considered by the Static risk assessment tools, but can be addressed in treatment. She found Respondent's dynamic risk factors include sexual arousal to children, sexual preoccupation, chronic sex offending, grooming behaviors, negative attitudes toward supervision, and poor insight into his need for management and treatment of his sexual arousal to children. She further testified Respondent told her he had not told anyone who might be a support for him in the community about his offending behavior, and he had no plans to attend sex offender treatment in the community. In Dr. Gottfried's opinion, Respondent's stated plan to prevent himself from reoffending by just not thinking about it was not a realistic plan, especially for someone with pedophilic disorder. (Appendix, pp. 142-146).

Dr. Gottfried testified to a reasonable degree of psychological certainty that Respondent has pedophilic disorder, he fantasizes about prepubescent children, and he acted on his pedophilic disorder despite intervention and prior treatment, which makes him likely to reoffend sexually against children. She opined Respondent has serious difficulty controlling his pedophilic impulses, and his risk to reoffend poses a danger to public safety. (Appendix, pp. 146-148).

DMH Evaluator's Trial Testimony

The DMH evaluator explained her evaluation protocol and testified she reviewed all the available documentation regarding Respondent. She also diagnosed Respondent with pedophilic disorder, sexually attracted to females, non-exclusive type, stating Respondent's criminal history provided sufficient information to make that diagnosis. The DMH evaluator stated she heard Dr. Gottfried's testimony regarding the PPG results, and she was not surprised by any of the results. (Appendix, pp. 183-204).

The DMH evaluator also scored the Static-99R and Static-2002R, and placed Respondent in the average risk to reoffend category. The only dynamic risk factor she assigned to Respondent

was a sexual preference for prepubescent children. She did not find he had a sexual preoccupation because “he did not seem to be dominated by his sexuality,” and “it wasn’t on his mind all the time.” She opined Respondent was not likely to reoffend sexually, and his risk was “the same as the average sex offender.” (Appendix, pp. 198-209).

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