**RECEIVED**

**Apr 28 2025**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals  
Appeal from Florence County  
Honorable Roger E. Henderson, Circuit Court Judge

---

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND  
TREATMENT OF ANDY EUGENE HYMAN,

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-001781

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

LARA M. CAUDY  
Senior Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

The assistant attorney general relied heavily on the PPG evidence during her closing argument to the jury. She went so far as to argue that Respondent’s results from the PPG test were sufficient alone to find he should be committed for long term care, control, and treatment. App. 266, ll. 14-23. Specifically, she asserted:

In 1996, he [Respondent] molested three little girls. He was alleged to have and he was charged and he was convicted and he served his time. He started looking at child pornography immediately after he got out, despite having sex offender treatment in the community.

Until he could no longer control himself, in 2015 he molested three more little girls or was alleged to have happened. He was convicted of those offenses and sentenced to ten years. And now he’s asking you to let him go back into the

community after he has had no further sex offender treatment and after he [recidivated]. I would submit to you that based on that information alone without **the PPG evidence, which clearly indicates that he has current sexual interest in children**, that information with or without the PPG, indicates that he is likely to reoffend.

**But let's go into the PPG. What was he sexually excited by in those scenarios? He was sexually excited by coercive scenarios against prepubescent children. He was sexually excited by coercive scenarios against adults, both men and women. But he was also sexually excited about a scenario featuring an infant and a male. He got erections to all of those things.** That was in February of this year. And *I would submit to you that that, in and of itself, is enough to put him in a secured facility for long term care, control, and treatment.* I would submit that [he] has, in fact, got an active interest in small children and if he's released to the community he is very, very, [likely] to reoffend. There's not a question of if this individual, it's the question of when. And I would submit that evidence in front of you, we have proven beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Hyman is, in fact, a sexually violent predator. We're asking you to commit him to Wellpath Facility for a long term treatment and we thank you.

App. 265, l. 24 – 267, l. 7 (emphasis added).

The jury ultimately found Respondent was a sexually violent predator under the SVPA.

App. 294, l. 25 – 295, l. 11.

On appeal, Respondent argued the trial judge abused his discretion by admitting evidence through the state's expert witness about the PPG Respondent underwent as part of his precommitment evaluation since the evidence was unreliable in violation of Rule 702, SCRE, State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 20, 515 S.E.2d 508, 518 (1999), and Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 445, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010), and the probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice in violation of Rule 403, SCRE.

The Court of Appeals reversed Respondent's involuntary commitment. App. 452. The court correctly held "the PPG is not reliable as required by Rule 702" and "thus, the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the PPG results." App. 453. In support of this holding, the Court of Appeals cited to its recent published opinion in Matter of Daily, Op. No. 6061 (S.C. Ct.

App. filed June 12, 2024 (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 22 at 19); Matter of Daily, 443 S.C. 557, 905 S.E.2d 310 (Ct. App. 2024). In Daily, the Court of Appeals likewise held the trial court abused its discretion by admitting evidence about the PPG Daily underwent because “the PPG is not reliable, as required by Rule 702.” App. 453.

In reversing Respondent’s commitment, the Court of Appeals also cited to its opinion in Matter of Bilton, 432 S.C. 157, 851 S.E.2d 442 (Ct. App. 2020). In Bilton, the court recognized that the PPG is “controversial and has been criticized for a lack of standardization and for being subject to manipulation.” Id. at 162, 851 S.E.2d at 444. The court further emphasized that “with limited exceptions . . . courts have ‘uniformly’ declared that PPG test results are ‘inadmissible as evidence because there are no accepted standards for this test in the scientific community.’” Id. at 162-63, 851 S.E.2d at 444 (quoting Doe ex rel. Rudy-Glanzer v. Glanzer, 232 F.3d 1258, 1266 (9th Cir. 2000)). App. 453.

The Court of Appeals also correctly held the error in admitting Respondent’s PPG test results was prejudicial. App. 453. The Court asserted that “Dr. Gottfried’s testimony regarding the result of the PPG had the appearance of scientific evidence; she described the PPG test as ‘an objective physiological measure of male sexual arousal’ and ‘the gold standard of looking at adult males sexual arousal,’ and she explained that the test was ‘a strong predictor or risk factor for future sexual offending.’” App. 454. Additionally, the Court of Appeals emphasized that the state relied on the results of the PPG when it cross-examined Respondent and during its closing argument when it argued the results were enough to put Respondent in a secured facility. App. 454. Consequently, the court concluded the error in admitting the PPG evidence was not harmless. App. 454.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“The standard of review for evidentiary rulings is very deferential.” Matter of Bilton, 432 S.C. 157, 161, 851 S.E.2d 442, 444 (Ct. App. 2020), reh’g denied (Dec. 22, 2020). “The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter within the trial court’s sound discretion, and an appellate court may only disturb a ruling admitting or excluding evidence upon a showing of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice.” Id. at 161-162, 851 S.E.2d at 444 (quoting State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 262-263, 721 S.E.2d 413, 417 (2011)) (internal quotation marks omitted). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id. at 162, 851 S.E.2d at 444 (quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)) (internal quotation marks omitted).

## ARGUMENT

In this sexually violent predator (SVP) case, the Court of Appeals correctly held the trial judge abused his discretion by admitting evidence through the state's expert witness about the penile plethysmograph (PPG) Respondent underwent as part of his precommitment evaluation since the evidence was unreliable in violation of Rule 702, SCRE, *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999), and *Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 699 S.E.2d 169 (2010), and any probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice in violation of Rule 403, SCRE.

The Court of Appeals correctly held the trial judge abused his discretion by permitting Dr. Gottfried, who was qualified as an expert in clinical and forensic psychology, to testify about Respondent's results from the PPG he underwent as part of his precommitment evaluation since the evidence was unreliable in violation of Rule 702, SCRE, *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 20, 515 S.E.2d 508, 518 (1999), and *Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 445, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010). Moreover, any probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and should have been excluded pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE. Respondent presented extensive evidence during the pretrial hearing through Dr. Gehle's testimony and the cross-examination of Dr. Gottfried establishing that the PPG is unreliable.

"The admission of expert testimony is governed by Rule 702, SCRE, which provides: If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise." *Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 445, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010).

“Expert testimony may be used to help the jury to determine a fact in issue based on the expert’s specialized knowledge, experience, or skill and is necessary in cases in which the subject matter falls outside the realm of ordinary lay knowledge. Stated differently, expert evidence is required where a factual issue must be resolved with scientific, technical, or any other specialized knowledge.” *Id.* at 445, 699 S.E.2d at 175. “Expert testimony differs from lay testimony in that an expert witness is permitted to state an opinion based on facts not within his firsthand knowledge or may base his opinion on information made available before the hearing so long as it is the type of information that is reasonably relied upon in the field to make opinions.” *Id.* at 445-446, 699 S.E.2d at 175 (citing Rule 703, SCRE).

“Expert testimony receives additional scrutiny relative to other evidentiary decisions. Specifically, in executing its gatekeeping duties, the trial court must make three key preliminary findings which are fundamental to Rule 702 before the jury may consider expert testimony. First, the trial court must find that the subject matter is beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury, thus requiring an expert to explain the matter to the jury. Next, while the expert need not be a specialist in the particular branch of the field, the trial court must find that the proffered expert has indeed acquired the requisite knowledge and skill to qualify as an expert in the particular subject matter. Finally, *the trial court must evaluate the substance of the testimony and determine whether it is reliable.*” *Id.* (emphasis added) (internal citation marks omitted).

To determine reliability, the trial judge should apply the factors outlined by this Court in State v. Jones, 273 S.C. 723, 731, 259 S.E.2d 120, 124 (1979), including: (1) the publications and peer review of the technique; (2) prior application of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case; (3) the quality control procedures used to ensure reliability; and (4) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures. State v. Council, 335

S.C. 1, 20, 515 S.E.2d 508, 518 (1999). “Further, if the evidence is admissible under Rule 702, SCRE, the trial judge should determine if its probative value is outweighed by its prejudicial effect. Id. (citing Rule 403, SCRE).

Recently, in Matter of Daily, 443 S.C. 557, 565-66, 905 S.E.2d 310, 314-15 (2024), the Court of Appeals held the trial court erred by admitting PPG evidence through Dr. Gottfried, the same state witness who testified in this case, because the PPG is not reliable. The court further held the error in admitting the PPG evidence was not harmless because the court could not say beyond a reasonable doubt that “the PPG test results did not contribute to the jury’s verdict.” Id. at 567, 905 S.E.2d at 315. The court reasoned that Dr. Gottfried, like in this case, was the state’s sole witness and “a significant portion of her testimony centered on the PPG test.” Id.

Previously, in Matter of Bilton, 432 S.C. 157, 162, 851 S.E.2d 442, 444 (Ct. App. 2020), the Court of Appeals addressed a narrow issue regarding the admissibility of PPG test results through an expert who did not administer or observe the PPG testing nor review the test’s raw data. Id. The Court of Appeals held that “due process does not allow a testifying expert to be a pipeline for someone else’s scientific work to be admitted into evidence without a baseline demonstration of reliability.” Id. at 167, 851 S.E.2d at 446. It concluded the trial judge abused his discretion by admitting the PPG evidence and, finding the error was not harmless, remanded for a new commitment trial. Id. at 167, 851 S.E.2d at 447.

In so holding, the Court of Appeals emphasized that the PPG “test is controversial and has been criticized for a lack of standardization and for being subject to manipulation.” Id. at 162, 851 S.E.2d at 444 (citing United States v. Rhodes, 552 F.3d 624, 626-627 (7th Cir. 2009) and United States v. Weber, 451 F.3d 552, 565 (9th Cir. 2006)). It noted that “with limited exceptions . . . courts have ‘uniformly’ declared that PPG test results are ‘inadmissible as

evidence because there are no accepted standards for this test in the scientific community.” Id. at 162-163, 851 S.E.2d at 444 (quoting Doe ex rel. Rudy-Glanzer v. Glanzer, 232 F.3d 1258, 1266 (9th Cir. 2000)). The court further emphasized that “some authorities take the position that the PPG has value in treating sex offenders but that concerns about reliability and a lack of uniform standards preclude its admission as evidence at trial.” Id. at 164, 851 S.E.2d at 445 (citing Commonwealth v. Ortiz, 93 Mass.App.Ct. 381, 100 N.E.3d 790, 796-97 (2018) (collecting cases)). Other “jurisdictions have held that an expert may rely on a PPG as a basis for the expert’s opinion but have expressly declined to consider whether the test results should be disclosed to the jury given the special weight the jury is likely to afford things that have the appearance of scientific evidence.” Id. at 164-65, 851 S.E.2d at 445 (citing In re Commitment of Sandry, 367 Ill.App.3d 949, 306 Ill.Dec. 202, 857 N.E.2d 295, 317 (2006)).

In Billups v. Commonwealth, 652 S.E.2d 99, 101-02 (Va. 2007), the Virginia Supreme Court held an expert’s report that relied on PPG testing was inadmissible, even at a sentencing hearing. The court in Billups approached PPG testing with a critical eye and ultimately concluded it was inadmissible:

Advancements in the sciences continually outpace the education of laymen, a category that includes judges, jurors and lawyers not schooled in the particular field under consideration. Consequently, there is a risk that those essential components of the judicial system may gravitate toward uncritical acceptance of any pronouncement that appears to be “scientific,” and the more esoteric the field, the more difficult it becomes for laymen to greet it with skepticism. That tendency has given rise to frequent complaints of “junk science” in the courts. To guard against that risk, we continue to require a “threshold finding of fact with respect to reliability of the scientific method offered. . . .”

Id. at 101-02. “Esoteric” and “junk science” are both accurate descriptions of PPG testing. See also United States v. Medina, 779 F.3d 55, 65 (1st Cir. 2015) (discussing reliability problems with PPG testing); Gentry v. State, 443 S.E.2d 667, 669 (Ga. Ct. App. 1994) (“Given the

rejection of [PPG] evidence by other states, and particularly the uncertainty within the scientific community of its reliability, we hold that it is inadmissible in Georgia.”); United States v. Powers, 59 F.3d 1460, 1470-71 (4th Cir. 1995) (holding the PPG did not meet the scientific standards for admissibility and emphasizing the “extensive, unanswered evidence weighing against the scientific validity of the penile plethysmograph test.”).

Dr. Gehle’s *in camera* testimony aligns with what other jurisdictions and courts have concluded. She maintained that the PPG is not standardized, meaning it is “given differently by different people” which “makes the results unreliable.” App. 13, l. 25 – 14, l. 12. Dr. Gehle further testified that to her knowledge, there have been no peer reviewed studies on the real child voices stimulus set. App. 20, ll. 14-16. She emphasized that peer reviewed studies are important because such studies would show whether the set is reliable and valid. App. 20, l. 18 – 21, l. 3. Moreover, Dr. Gottfried even admitted there were no peer reviewed studies showing the real child voices stimulus set, which she used during the PPG test conducted on Respondent, is valid and reliable. She is merely “working on a couple of studies” in an attempt to show the validity and reliability of the RCV stimulus set. App. 59, ll. 12-16. Additionally, Dr. Gottfried admitted there is no way to verify “false/positives” with the PPG. App. 65, l. 22 – 66, l. 12. Consequently, under the framework outlined by this Court in Jones, the state failed to establish that the PPG was reliable.

Because the PPG and Respondent’s results from the test are not reliable, Dr. Gottfried’s corresponding testimony had no probative value. Assuming the evidence had probative value, it was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to Respondent.

The Court of Appeals correctly determined the erroneous admission of the PPG evidence was not harmless. App. 543-454. Because the PPG test and its results had the appearance of

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